IDA

INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES

The Impact of the Arab Spring on Africa: Regional Effects of the Libyan Revolution

Brittany T. Gregerson

September 2012 Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited. IDA Document D-4825 H 13-000369

INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES 4850 Mark Center Drive Alexandria, Virginia 22311-1882



The Institute for Defense Analyses is a non-profit corporation that operates three federally funded research and development centers to provide objective analyses of national security issues, particularly those requiring scientific and technical expertise, and conduct related research on other national challenges.

About this Publication

This work was conducted by the Institute for Defense Analyses (IDA) under contract 2012-12062700-003, Global Coverage Analyses Program. The views, opinions, and findings should not be construed as representing the official position of the U.S. Government.

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

Copyright Notice

© 2013 Institute for Defense Analyses, 4850 Mark Center Drive, Alexandria, Virginia 22311-1882 • (703) 845-2000.

INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES

IDA Document D-4825

The Impact of the Arab Spring on Africa: Regional Effects of the Libyan Revolution

Brittany T. Gregerson

Executive Summary

The revolution in Libya has exacerbated long-standing security challenges facing the country's neighbors. In particular, Mali, Chad, and Niger have long dealt with threats from Tuareg and other rebel groups, Islamic extremists, and illicit smuggling – in many cases, since they gained independence. The fallout from the demise of the regime of Mu'amar Qadhafi has, however, aggravated these problems significantly. Moreover, the refugee and migrant flow that has resulted from the conflicts in Libya, and now Mali, is of unprecedented size and complexity for the region and has increased pressures on economies and governments that were fragile even before the events of 2011. Because Qadhafi systematically dismantled the institutions of government in Libya, experts estimate that it will take at least five years for Tripoli to be able to secure its own borders. As a consequence, these nations will be under significant pressure for much of the next decade.

Militant and criminal networks in the region have benefited significantly from the deluge of experienced fighters who left Libya since early 2011. Al Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM) and its allies and offshoots – chief among them Ansar Dine and the Movement for Oneness and Jihad in West Africa (MUJAO/MUJWA) – as well as various Tuareg rebel groups in Mali, Niger, and Chad have been among the chief beneficiaries. Combined with the proceeds from years of lucrative illicit trafficking activities and kidnap for ransom schemes, this influx has allowed these groups to expand their reach and influence. Militias retain significant power within Libya as well, and the prospects for success of the new government's efforts to consolidate power remain unclear.

Although analysis of the scope of weapons leakage is hamstrung by a lack of reliable information on those stockpiles before fighting broke out, in September 2012 Libya's Interior Minister described Qadhafi's weapons supply as simply "tremendous; it cannot be counted." During the conflict in Libya, looting of armaments and ordnance occurred on a massive scale; it continues to the present day. As a consequence, Libyan weapons have saturated the region. Libyan weapons have been found as far afield as Israel, Lebanon, and Somalia, often trafficked there via the centuries-old smuggling routes that radiate across the region. Because the identities, loyalties, and intentions of those who took or purchased Qadhafi's armaments vary and are largely unconfirmed, it will take time to build an effective regional effort against the smuggling of Libya-sourced arms. The history of international efforts to deal with arms left over from other civil conflicts suggests this will be a challenge for decades to come.

The migration crisis sparked by the conflict was "probably unprecedented," according to Brookings Institution international migration expert Khalid Koser, and its economic consequences will continue to be felt for some time. In pre-revolution Libya, more than one-third of the work force comprised migrant workers from other countries. During the conflict, an estimated 500,000 to 800,000 migrant workers in Libya fled home or to third countries. While most of those who left have since returned to Libya, the economic effects of their displacement linger. Interrupted remittance flows have yet to return to their previous levels, and migrant workers in Libya face a less certain future, given continuing Libyan suspicions about their role in the conflict.

The refugee and migrant flows sparked by the conflicts in Libya, and now Mali, are a volatile, complex mix of former combatants, displaced migrant workers, and civilians fleeing violence – many of them nationals of third countries unable to support them, or to which they cannot legally be returned under international law. The combination of unclear governing legal regimes, a pervasive lack of funds, widespread documentation problems, and the transnational nature of the problem threaten to make it an enduring one. There is nothing, however, to indicate these new refugee populations pose more of a threat or a different kind of threat to stability than any other African refugee population of a similar size and composition.

The net result is that in some respects, Libya continues to play the same unhelpful regional role that it did under Qadhafi. His quixotic and toxic tradition of interference in the region is now being carried forward by militias, militant groups, and diverse criminal elements. Nearly a year after the Brother Leader's death, Libya continues to serve as "the arsenal of terrorism," providing support to terrorist, criminal, and rebel groups across the continent and beyond.



INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES

GLOBAL COVERAGE ANALYSES PROGRAM – AFRICA

TRACKING AND ISSUE PAPER



THE IMPACT OF THE ARAB SPRING ON AFRICA

REGIONAL EFFECTS OF THE LIBYAN REVOLUTION

Ms. Brittany Gregerson

SEPTEMBER 26, 2012

Contents

Regional Effects of the Libyan Revolution	1
Rise and Empowerment of Militia Groups within Libya	2
Militias in Libya Today	2
Militias in the Region	3
Tuareg Militants	5
Security Implications	5
Trafficking of Armaments and Ordnance	6
During the Revolution	6
Travels, Travails, and Trafficking	7
The State of Libyan Weapons in Country Today	7
Burdensome Transnational Refugee and Returnee Flows	9
Detainment and Racism	10
Impact of Refugees from Mali	10
Economic Impact of Displaced Populations	10
Bottom Line on Displaced Populations	11
Notes	12

Regional Effects of the Libyan Revolution

When the Arab Spring came to Libya in 2011, the nation lacked a robust government infrastructure or civil society after decades of continual undermining by the Brother Leader. In the year since Qadhafi's death, instability and uncertainty have pervaded the country and spread outward to Libya's neighbors. Despite successful elections in July 2012 and replacement of the National Transitional Council (NTC) with an elected government,¹ Libya's revolutionary militias have resisted efforts to disarm and relinquish their battle-won power and stature to an unproven national authority. Identification with one's region or city remains most salient for Libyans² – ironically, Qadhafi's perennial refrain of devolved power to "councils everywhere" only became a Libyan reality in the fight to topple his regime.

Opportunistic actors within Libya – and across the Sahel and Sahara – who seek to benefit from the region's prevailing disorder and widespread lack of state capacity have taken advantage of over a million square kilometers of vast deserts³ and porous, largely uncontrolled borders to bolster their militant and criminal activities, empty Qadhafi's vast arsenals of arms and ordnance, and exploit and inflame the largest refugee crisis in the region since World War II.⁴

The region has been beset with armed criminal and militant groups, trafficking and proliferation networks, and deleterious refugee and migrant flows since long before the start of the Arab Spring⁵ – in many cases, dating back to the pre-colonial era.⁶ Nonetheless, although the problems facing the region are familiar, the scale and complexity of the region's problems today far exceeds the capacities of governments in the region to address them.

This paper assesses the impact of the 2011 Libyan revolution and fall of Mu'amar Qadhafi on the surrounding region. It focuses, in particular, on the three countries where the effects have been the greatest: Mali, Niger, and Chad. Discussion of internal Libyan dynamics is limited to what is necessary to provide context to the discussion of what is occurring outside the country's borders.

The most significant impact of the Libyan revolution on the region has been intensification of three long-standing trends – the empowerment of militia groups, trafficking of armaments, and spread of transnational refugee and migrant flows.

Rise and Empowerment of Militia Groups within Libya

Throughout his rule, Qadhafi intentionally kept any potential rival institutions weak and used tribe, ethnicity, region, and politics as wedges to divide the country, ensuring his grip on power.⁷ When the uprisings that would turn into the revolution began, independent civil society was nearly nonexistent, and there were no institutions powerful enough to take the lead. Even the army was organized as independent brigades under officers Qadhafi trusted; no unified army was allowed to develop.⁸

Into this gap stepped militias that developed and acted largely independently of each other. Some formed out of tribal and family groups;⁹ others were tied to neighborhoods or cities, sometimes identifying with specific streets.¹⁰ The militarization of Libyan society can be partially attributed to Qaddafi's reputation for brutality, which incentivized swift and aggressive action. As Qadhafi responded to early peaceful demonstrations with violence, stoking the public's fears, revolutionaries cited a well-known Bedouin proverb: "Me against my brother, my brothers and me against my cousins, my cousins and me against strangers."¹¹ News of Qadhafi's use of mercenaries against Libyans was instrumental in accelerating the militarization of the population.¹² The revolution benefited from a broad base of support in the general public and the omnipresence of weapons in the country once the revolution began.

Militias in Libya Today

As of September 2012, fewer than 20 Libyan militias retained significant military capability; however, more than 200 still exist, kept afloat by private funding and bolstered by significant caches of arms and other weaponry.¹³ Clashes continue across the country among militias as well as between militias and national government forces,¹⁴ and the prospects for success of the new government's efforts to consolidate power and reintegrate militia members into society remain unclear.

Libyan government forces have taken control of many detention facilities formerly run by militias, but some remain in operation.¹⁵ Militias continue to arrest and hold people, mostly those suspected of having been mercenaries in Qadhafi's army. As of February 2012, thousands of detainees were still being held in gray facilities across the country – many of them reportedly suffering torture and inhumane holding conditions.¹⁶

Militias retain power in Libya today for many reasons:

- The weakness of the Libyan national government, which continues to be undermined by a lack of credibility. Since parliamentary elections are not scheduled until 2013, this problem can be expected to persist for at least two years.
- Libya's history of regional-based identity remains strong.¹⁷ The NTC might have been latched onto by the international community as the face of the rebellion, but

that was never the reality on the ground.¹⁸ Because of the way the revolution unfolded – with "piecemeal and variegated liberation of different parts of the country" – each of the myriad actors involved could legitimately claim a stake of the credit.¹⁹ Those who fought are understandably reluctant to give up the arms that won them their freedom and serve as symbols of the revolution – especially when the new central authority presents a less than compelling alternative to the new status quo.

• The militias have developed vested interests and become more entrenched the longer they have continued to exist.²⁰ Although the majority of fighters have stated their intention to accept Libya's elected government and return to civilian life, efforts to fold militias into the national military forces have been incomplete and largely unsuccessful.²¹ Some observers fear that the new government's refusal to admit the extent of abuses carried out since early 2011 by the militias could be creating a "climate of impunity" that will cause problems going forward.²²

Militias in the Region

For decades, Qadhafi provided training, arms, and other support to neighboring states as well as militant and rebel groups within them;²³ in his absence, weapons and people have continued to flow from Libya. When the uprisings began, Qadhafi imported many of those he had supported in the past as mercenaries to fight for him. Estimates of the number who were mercenaries vary, but are generally in the thousands.²⁴ After his death, these fighters left Libya, armed with not only weapons, but also valuable training and experience – and little else in the way of job opportunities or marketable skills.²⁵

A varied assortment of militant and criminal networks in neighboring states – some long-standing, some new – have benefited from the influx of experienced fighters with enhanced weaponry. Chief among these are Al Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM) and its allies, notably Ansar Dine and the Movement for Oneness and Jihad in West Africa (MUJAO/MUJWA), as well as Tuareg rebel groups across the Sahel, including the National Movement for the Liberation of Azawad (MNLA), based in northern Mali. The glut of weapons and other fungible assets procured from Libya in the chaos of revolution, combined with funds from ransoms and illicit trafficking activities has allowed AQIM and its affiliates to expand their reach and influence.²⁶ Criminal networks have grown alongside their militant partners – and associated corrupt government officials – though the relationships between the groups are difficult to track, since they are continually in flux and largely dependent on *ad hoc* tactical alliances.²⁷

Observers fear an "Afghanisation" of the region and a shift of al Qaeda's focus "from the Mashreq to the Maghreb" – out of Asia and into the vast deserts of North Africa and the Sahel.²⁸ Though some communities have pushed back against the

Islamists, a Malian academic argues that Saharan and Sahelian populations' lack of a deep knowledge of Islam – similar to that of rural Pashtuns in Afghanistan and Pakistan – makes them susceptible to al Qaeda's teachings on the subject, which they often accept as authoritative.²⁹

According to the UN, by June 2012, the situation in Mali had deteriorated so much that AQIM, its affiliates, and associated criminal organizations effectively controlled the entire north of the country.³⁰ By August 2012, "atrocious war crimes" were being committed against civilians in the north with impunity, and Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) reported that AQIM had made significant progress in establishing a safe haven for al Qaeda affiliates in the area.³¹ The Algerian, Malian, and Chadian governments have all made similar statements, fearing that AQIM and criminal networks will continue to be able to exploit instability in the desert to their advantage.³²

The Case of Mali

Tuareg separatists have had tension with the powers that be in Mali since the colonial period. The most recent – MNLA-led – rebellion began in January 2012. In March, the Malian army ousted the democratically elected government in Bamako; Tuaregs, allied with Islamists, then took the northern part of the country, capturing the three most important northern cities within 48 hours. The MNLA announced the independence of Azawad on April 5. By mid-July, however, al Qaeda had hijacked their victory. Mali's north is now controlled by two AQIM affiliates – Ansar Dine and MUJAO – who have acted to impose their interpretation of Sharia law on locals.

In early September 2012, MUJAO took control of Douentza, a town less than 200 kilometers from the closest positions of the Malian armed forces – and the new southernmost point occupied by Islamists in that country. MUJAO is said to have vast regional ambitions that exceed those of many of Mali's Islamist extremists, and drug trafficking is a key source of income – to the point that some allege their ideology is no more than a cover for a profitmaking machine. The relationship between AQIM and MUJAO remains unclear, with some sources claiming the two have split over a disagreement concerning sharing of ransom payments.

On September 9, 2012, Oumar Ould Hamaha, speaking for MUJAO, said that his group considered the killing of 16 imams by the Malian army to be equivalent to a declaration of war and that the group intended to continue its push south to Bamako. In an earlier interview, Hamaha threatened the MNLA and ECOWAS, saying they were not welcome in Mali and nothing will prevent MUJAO from taking Bamako in one day when the whim strikes. He also boasted of an arsenal comprising more than 20,000 missiles – and cautioned listeners to "remember the attacks on the USA on 11 September, and if ECOWAS is not careful, we will strike everywhere."

Tuareg Militants

Thousands of returnee Tuareg fighters from Libya, bolstered by a vast cache of arms, helped propel the MNLA to success in Azawad.³³ Though they did not manage to keep control of northern Mali for long, the MNLA still exists, though sidelined, and other Tuareg rebel groups remain active across the Sahel, significantly in Niger.

Tuareg rebels in Niger had long received support from Qadhafi as well.³⁴ After the MNLA was marginalized in Azawad and thousands of refugees began to leave northern Mali, many observers feared that a similar uprising could be sparked among the Nigerien Tuaregs.³⁵ That scenario has yet to materialize, perhaps indicating that the transnational linkages between Tuareg groups in different countries are less strong than commonly assumed. Still, the effects of the Libyan revolution continue to destabilize Niger; in September 2011, the Nigerien president credited the Libyan conflict with exacerbating "the menace of criminal organizations, drug traffickers, arms traffickers," and fundamentalist Islam in his country.³⁶ Despite its best efforts and attempted collaboration with neighboring countries, Niger has been unable to prevent militants from crossing the country's borders.³⁷

Chad boasts a similarly volatile combination of Tuareg separatists, AQIM-affiliated militants, and Libyan returnee fighters³⁸ – as well as a similar history of intervention in its affairs by Qadhafi.³⁹ For nearly two decades on and off, the Brother Leader supported the government as well as a wide array of ever-shifting anti-regime rebel groups, in an effort he strove to portray within Libya as a valiant proxy fight against French colonialism.⁴⁰ Prior to the fall of Qadhafi, AQIM was reportedly already having much success recruiting Chadian youth, who had few other opportunities;⁴¹ in the year since, AQIM has continued to build strategic depth in the region.⁴²

Security Implications

Development of a strong Libyan national government is crucial to regional security. If the central government remains unable to establish a monopoly on the legitimate use of force, failing to reign in the country's powerful militias, it will have a difficult time consolidating power sufficient to meet the basic needs of the Libyan people. Reports that some militias within Libya might be aiding transnational terrorist and criminal groups, including AQIM and its affiliates, highlight the urgency with which the authorities must reintegrate fighters into society and take back control of essential state functions.

The more challenging task will be combating the array of militant groups that operate across the region's largely unmonitored borders. Strengthened by the influx of arms and other assets from the Qadhafi regime, bolstered by decades of lucrative trafficking and kidnap for ransom schemes, and steeped in an ideology that speaks to many in their area of operations, these groups are now significantly less likely to be persuaded to lay down their arms. These new resources will allow them to expand their networks and operations with a far larger margin of error.

Trafficking of Armaments and Ordnance

One of the most significant analytical challenges in assessing the scope of the looting of Qadhafi's arsenals is a lack of reliable information on the size and content of those arsenals before the revolution. It is unclear whether anyone outside his innermost circle knew the details of his weapons stores. In September 2012, Libya's current Interior Minister told an interviewer: "The quantity of weapons that the former regime bought from the Soviet Union and the socialist countries over the years is tremendous; it cannot be counted. They are astronomical figures."⁴³

What is known is that during his first decade in power, Qadhafi spent an estimated \$22 billion on arms, almost one-fourth of Libya's entire budget – which came out to \$890 per Libyan per year, nearly double the per capita weapons expenditures of the next closest country, Israel, which spent \$480 per citizen per year.⁴⁴ In terms of total spending, only Iran spent more – on a population approximately ten times the size of Libya's at the time.⁴⁵ In 2006 and 2007, after the removal of arms embargoes and sanctions by the international community, Libya's military budget was estimated at \$1.5 billion.⁴⁶

Only partial data are available on two of the most troubling parts of the Libyan weapons program – MANPADS and chemical weapons. Multiple estimates put Libya's stock of MANPADS in excess of 20,000.⁴⁷ By January 2012, joint U.S.-Libyan teams had been able to account for around 5,000 of those systems.⁴⁸ According to the Organization for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons, around half of Qadhafi's declared stash of chemical weapons and precursor chemicals, including mustard gas stores, remained unaccounted for as of September 2012.⁴⁹

During the Revolution

Reports indicate that during the revolution, "Libya turned into an 'arms bazaar'"⁵⁰ where weapons and ordnance were looted on an unprecedented scale by all sides – and the transfers continue to this day.⁵¹ Experts on the ground since the revolution began have reported "a larger scale and variety of abandoned ordnance" than they had seen in other conflict zones⁵² and noted that Qadhafi's arsenal was dispersed across the country, "often in odd locations."⁵³ Complicating matters further, during the revolution Qadhafi is said to have ordered supporters to disperse weapons and ammunition across the desert in places NATO bombers would be unlikely to target.⁵⁴ After the conflict, weapons and ordnance were often abandoned, frequently in unsafe conditions.⁵⁵

Travels, Travails, and Trafficking

Libyan weapons have saturated the region accompanying the churn of fighters through Libya, Mali, Niger, and Chad that escalated in 2011.⁵⁶ This area has long been home to some of the world's most heavily trafficked smuggling routes – whether for narcotics, arms, people, or household goods.⁵⁷ Smuggling of Libyan weaponry has been reported by the governments of Egypt, Niger, Algeria, Tunisia, Chad, and Israel, among others,⁵⁸ and Libyan weapons have been discovered in such far-flung locations as Somalia, Syria, and Gaza.⁵⁹ The identities, loyalties, and intentions of those who took or purchased Qadhafi's arms vary and are largely unconfirmed.

Multiple sources indicate that Libyan weapons have made it into the hands of AQIM, Boko Haram, Tuareg mercenaries, Hamas, and other militant groups based in the Sinai.⁶⁰ Referring to the weapons surfeit, AQIM leader Mokhtar Belmokthar has stated that AQIM was "one of the main beneficiaries of the revolutions in the Arab world."⁶¹ Belmokhtar has personally led several trips into Libya to procure weapons for the group since early 2011, and shipments continued to arrive to the group's outposts in Mali as late as September 2012.⁶² Other unconfirmed reports claim that AQIM has gone as far as to establish "emirates" and training camps in eastern Libya to facilitate the continued trafficking of arms and foreign fighters to the group and its affiliates across the region.⁶³

It appears that for many groups, Libyan arms represented a significant qualitative improvement in their arsenals. Though Qadhafi's stockpiles may have been no match for the advanced weaponry of NATO, they were vastly superior to those owned by the Malian army.⁶⁴ An academic expert on AQIM claims that before the Libyan conflict, the group had access only to limited explosives and light weapons; since then, they have since gained "several types of rockets and advanced weapons."⁶⁵ Similarly, the president of Chad stated in March 2011 that the Libyan conflict had made AQIM into "a genuine army, the best equipped in the region."⁶⁶

The table below displays a sampling of reported discoveries of Libyan armaments and their locations.

The State of Libyan Weapons in Country Today

A large quantity and array of armaments are still being held by Libyan civilians and militias reluctant to surrender the weapons,⁶⁷ especially in light of the escalation in violence across the country during summer 2012.⁶⁸ Within Libya, militias are known to possess significant quantities of rocket launchers, antiaircraft guns and missiles, surface-to-air missiles, RPGs, Soviet-made tanks, Grad missiles, and mortars.⁶⁹ In late August 2012, the Libyan government seized more than 100 tanks and 26 missile launchers from one militia group; concurrently, near Zlitan, a tribal dispute turned violent, aided by 14mm anti-aircraft guns.⁷⁰

		•
Country	Libyan Armaments Discovered	Source
Algeria	15 SA-24 and 28 SA-7 missiles; ⁷¹ "other weapons," ⁷² "218 pieces of weapons light and heavy machine guns, pistols and sniper rifles, remote explosive devices, tens of thousands of machine gun bullets, as well as RPG rocket launchers and a significant amount of powerful explosives;" ⁷³ MANPADs ⁷⁴	Multiple; first in early 2011
Chad	"weapons;" ⁷⁵ "arms;" ⁷⁶ SAM surface to air missiles ⁷⁷	Multiple; first in mid- 2011
Egypt	"138 Grad rockets and some 7,000 rounds of ammunition;" ⁷⁸ "surface to air missiles rockets and antiaircraft guns ammunition, explosives, automatic weapons and caches of heavier arms, including Russian-made Strela-2 and Strela-3 heat-seeking, shoulder-fired antiaircraft missiles [and] more advanced weapons;" ⁷⁹ TNT, navigation systems; ⁸⁰ "hundreds" of "modern sniper rifles;" ⁸¹ 40 surface-to-surface missiles, 17 RPG launchers, automatic weapons, mortar rounds, and 10,000 artillery shells; ⁸² SA-24s ⁸³	Multiple; first in early 2011
Lebanon	"a ship carrying several containers of Libyan arms;" ⁸⁴ "a large consignment of Libyan weapons including rocket-propelled grenades and heavy calibre ammunition [and] fragmentation explosives;" ⁸⁵ artillery shells ⁸⁶	Multiple; first in early 2012
Niger	"ten truckloads of weapons;" ⁸⁷ "rockets, assault rifles and machine guns;" ⁸⁸ "antitank rocket launchers;" ⁸⁹ "more than 600kg of explosives, 435 detonators and tens of thousands of dollars in cash;" ⁹⁰ weapons, ammunition, and 645kg of Semtex ⁹¹	Multiple; first in early 2011
Nigeria	Semtex to Boko Haram; ⁹² "weapons;" ⁹³ "surface to air launchers;" ⁹⁴ "arms and explosives" ⁹⁵	Multiple; first in late 2011
Mali	Multiple truck convoys with weapons including RPG-7 anti-tank RPGs, FMPK Kalashnikov heavy machine guns, Kalashnikov rifles, military grade explosives, ammunition, Strela surface-to-air missiles (SAM-7s); ⁹⁶ "heavy machineguns and multiple rocket-launchers" ⁹⁷	Multiple; first in early 2011
Palestinian Territories	"vast numbers" of MANPADS and heavy weaponry; ⁹⁸ SA-7 anti- aircraft missiles and RPGs; ⁹⁹ Scud missiles; ¹⁰⁰ hundreds of Grad missiles, "shorter-range rockets, guns and ammunition" ¹⁰¹	Multiple; first in mid- 2011
Somalia	Land and ship mines, RPGs, other shoulder-launched projectiles; ¹⁰² weapons, including surface to air missiles ¹⁰³	Multiple, first in mid- 2012
Sudan	M021OF Grad missiles, ammunition, Kalashnikov rifles, 5 mortars, 581 Kalashnikov bullets, DShK machine gun ammunition; ¹⁰⁴ "100 truckloads of weapons" ¹⁰⁵	Multiple, first in late 2011
Tunisia	"pistols, rifles, Kalashnikovs and thousands of live bullets;" ¹⁰⁶ three trucks full of weapons ¹⁰⁷	Multiple; first in early 2011

Selected Discoveries of Libyan Arms

The Libyan authorities continue to be unable to secure their borders and have asked the international community for help in doing so.¹⁰⁸ Experts expect it to take at least five years for Libya to put together an army that can adequately monitor the country's borders¹⁰⁹ – and it is in better shape than neighboring Niger and Chad.¹¹⁰ Given the continued lack of information on Libyan weapons stores pre-revolution and the vastness of the Libyan desert, it is likely that stockpiles will continue to be discovered throughout the country over the next several decades.¹¹¹

The unprecedented scale and complexity of the arms flows from the Libyan revolution make this proliferation event particularly concerning.¹¹² Less significant incidents have had a persistent impact on regional security in the past – for example, the looting of the Iraqi arms depots in 2003 and fallout from the arming of rebels in Central America and Afghanistan in the 1970s and 1980s.¹¹³

The durable and fungible nature of weapons makes the impact of their spread difficult to predict. Especially in light of the volume of these arms flows and the diversity of recipients, anticipating the ways they will be used is nearly impossible. Useful not only for fighting or deterrence, but also for their resale or barter value – and bolstered by near unlimited and global demand – these new arsenals will increase the freedom of action and feasible time horizons of the criminal and extremist groups who now possess them.

Burdensome Transnational Refugee and Returnee Flows

During the revolution, the human migration situation in Libya was extremely complex, comprising many divergent groups, including internally displaced Libyans, Libyans fleeing to neighboring countries, displaced third country national (TCN) migrant workers in Libya, migrants in Libya en route to Europe, and TCNs seeking asylum or refugee status in Libya.¹¹⁴ While some groups were fleeing, others were entering or reentering the country.¹¹⁵ A Brookings expert on migration judged the scale, speed, and number of nationalities affected by the Libyan crisis to be "probably unprecedented," fueled by the high intensity of violence and drawn-out civil war that developed in the country.¹¹⁶

Before the revolution, more than 30 percent of the Libyan workforce comprised migrant workers from third countries. Data on migrants vary and can be unreliable, but estimates range from a population of between 1.8 million and 2.5 million migrant workers employed in Libya pre-revolution, 500,000 to 800,000 of whom left during the conflict.¹¹⁷ The majority of those who left returned to their home countries¹¹⁸ only to come back to Libya later due to a lack of economic opportunities.¹¹⁹ As soon as November 2011, returnees to Libya were prevalent,¹²⁰ especially from Chad.¹²¹

Not all TCNs who left Libya returned home, however. Tunisia, Egypt, and Niger in particular took in significant numbers of TCNs,¹²² though the first two countries were

widely criticized for imposing more stringent regulations on refugees from sub-Saharan countries than they did on those from Libya.¹²³ In March 2011, around 1,000 people an hour were entering Egypt and Tunisia from Libya.¹²⁴ The Nigerien government reported that, by September 2011, more than 210,000 people had already entered Niger from Libya¹²⁵ – a number that would only grow into 2012, as threats from Boko Haram opened up a new stream of returnees – more than 10,000 Nigeriens that fled Nigeria citing threats from the AQIM affiliate.¹²⁶

Detainment and Racism

Significant numbers of migrants and refugees from the varying groups discussed above have been waylaid in their attempts to leave or enter Libya. Unclear and often contradictory policies governing the legal status of migrant workers and refugees¹²⁷ combined with the disarray of the Libyan security environment after the fall of Qadhafi have led to the emergence of a series of desert jails and militia-run unofficial prisons and detention centers throughout the country.¹²⁸

One example is Gharyan, a city in the Nafusa Mountains near Libya's border with Tunisia. Its notorious Burashada camp hosts mostly Chadians and Nigeriens, generally on charges that they fought on Qadhafi's side during the revolution.¹²⁹ It is unclear whether the camp is under the control of a local militia or the Libyan national army.¹³⁰ Detention facilities like Burashada are hardly unique, play largely upon widespread racism in Libya, and often subject those being held to inhumane conditions, including torture.¹³¹

Impact of Refugees from Mali

Refugee flows into the Sahel from the conflict in Mali have been significant as well, though overshadowed by those from Libya. As of September 2012, more than 435,000 Malians had been displaced due to fighting and food insecurity. More than 266,000 registered as refugees in neighboring countries, and 174,000 were internally displaced in Mali's north.¹³² Additionally, around 400 Malian army deserters fled to neighboring Niger in May 2012.¹³³

Economic Impact of Displaced Populations

In the Sahel and West Africa, the returnees' plight is exacerbated by the extreme fragility of the states they are returning to, the economies of which depend upon the remittances that stop flowing when the returnees are forced home. Niger, Chad, Burkina Faso, and Mali are particularly vulnerable – already suffering from weak economies, overburdened health systems, and tenuous security situations.¹³⁴

• According to IOM estimates, before the revolution, more than a million TCNs in Libya were sending remittances to their home countries.¹³⁵ In 2010, those

payments totaled \$1 billion.¹³⁶ More than 90 percent of migrant workers from North Africa and the Sahel are thought to send remittances home.¹³⁷

Around 300,000 Chadians worked in Libya, most sending remittances home, and around 100,000 of them returned to Chad due to the revolution. According to the former Chadian Finance Minister, the decrease in remittances and new mouths to feed have had a significant impact on the country's economy.¹³⁸ By June 2011, a survey jointly conducted by Oxfam and Action Against Hunger found that remittances to Chad had already fallen by 57 percent and family size in the Bahr el Ghazal region had increased by up to 13 people.¹³⁹

Regional food insecurity has also been exacerbated by the migration crisis. In 2010, before the outbreak of hostilities, around 10 million people in the Sahel region were at risk of hunger, and one in five children suffered from chronic malnutrition.¹⁴⁰ In summer 2012, ECOWAS projected that between 13 million and 16 million people in West Africa were in danger of starvation due to fallout from conflict in Libya and Mali, with Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, the Gambia, Ghana, Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Niger, Senegal, Mauritania, and Chad most affected.¹⁴¹

Bottom Line on Displaced Populations

The refugee and migrant flows sparked by the conflicts in Libya and now Mali are a volatile, complex mix of former combatants, displaced migrant workers, and civilians fleeing violence – many of them nationals of third countries unable to support them, or to which they cannot legally be returned under international law. The combination of unclear governing legal regimes, a pervasive lack of funds, widespread documentation problems, and the transnational nature of the problem threaten to make it an enduring one.

Though unprecedented for the region, there is nothing to indicate that these new refugee populations pose more of a threat or a different kind of threat to stability than any other African refugee population of a similar size and composition. Concerns about health and humanitarian issues and fears that these refugee camps could become fertile recruitment grounds for extremist and criminal networks in the area have legitimacy, but the same problems exist in camps across the continent. The factors that contribute to instability in refugee camps have not been systematically assessed, but examples like Kenya's Dadaab camp suggest that camp size, resource strain, rule of law, population composition, and average length of stay are likely relevant.¹⁴² Best practices indicate that finding long-term non-camp solutions for those displaced from the recent conflicts in Libya and Mali should be the goal of the international community.

Notes

- ¹ BBC News Africa, "Libya election success for secularist Jibril's bloc," July 18, 2012, http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-18880908
- ² Karim Mezran and Fadel Lamen, "Issue Brief: Security Challenges to Libya's Quest for Democracy," The Atlantic Council, September 2012, p.3
- ³ CIA World Factbook, "Africa: Libya: Geography," Updated August 24, 2012, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/ly.html
- ⁴ Al Jazeera via Open Source Center in English, "For Refugees in Libya, Hard to Stay or Go," March 12, 2012
- ⁵ See, for example: Cherkaoui Roudani, "Kadhafi regime collapse marks Maghreb turning point," Magharebia, October 28, 2011,

www.magharebia.com.cocoon/awi/xhtml1/en_GB/features/awi/reportage/2011/10/28/reportage-01;

- ⁶ Paul Melly, "The World Today: The sad decline of Mali," Chatham House, August 2012, <u>http://chathamhouse.org/publications/twt/archive/view/185099</u>
- ⁷ Christopher M. Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," Congressional Research Service, March 28, 2012
- ⁸ Lindsey Hilsum, Sandstorm: Libya in the Time of Revolution, New York: The Penguin Press, 2012, pp,25-27
- ⁹ Sandstorm, op cit, pp.25-27
- ¹⁰ International Crisis Group, "Holding Libya Together: Security Challenges After Qadhafi," December 14, 2011,
 http://www.origisgroup.org/c/media/Files/Middle%20East%20North%20Africa/North%20Africa/I15

http://www.crisisgroup.org/~/media/Files/Middle%20East%20North%20Africa/North%20Africa/115 %20Holding%20Libya%20Together%20--%20Security%20Challenges%20after%20Qadhafi.pdf

- ¹¹ As quoted in Sandstorm, op cit, pp. 25
- ¹² Sandstorm, op cit, pp. 24-25
- ¹³ Mezran and Lamen, op cit, p.2
- ¹⁴ Ibid
- ¹⁵ Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit
- ¹⁶ Amnesty International, "Militias threaten hopes for new Libya," February 2012, <u>http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/MDE19/002/2012/en/608ac5a8-95d0-4a3b-89deb4a1b585feee/mde190022012en.html</u>
- ¹⁷ Mezran and Lamen, op cit, p.3
- ¹⁸ International Crisis Group, "Holding Libya Together," op cit
- ¹⁹ Ibid
- ²⁰ Ibid
- ²¹ Mezran and Lamen, op cit, p.3
- ²² Amnesty International, "Militias threaten hopes for new Libya," op cit
- ²³ Roudani, "Kadhafi regime collapse marks Maghreb turning point," op cit
- ²⁴ Bazi Kanani, "Gadhafi's Mercenaries Spread Guns and Fighting in Africa," ABC News, April 3, 2012, <u>http://abcnews.go.com/blogs/headlines/2012/04/dead-dictators-impact-gadhafi-guns-africa/</u>
- ²⁵ See: Maylie and Hinshaw, "Alarm Over Smuggles Libyan Arms," op cit and Al Jazeera English TV via Open Source Center, "Mali: Regional Leaders Fear Violence as Tuareg Gunmen Return From Libya," January 20 2012
- ²⁶ Jemal Oumar and Essam Mohamed, "From Mashreq to Maghreb: al-Qaeda shifts focus," Magharebia, July 9, 2012, www.magharebia.com/cocoon/awi/xhtml1/en GB/features/awi/reportage/2012/09/07/reportage-01

- ²⁷ Wolfram Lacher, "Organized Crime and Conflict in the Sahel-Sahara Region," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, September 2012, <u>http://www.carnegieendowment.org/2012/09/13/organizedcrime-and-conflict-in-sahel-sahara-region/dtjm#</u>
- ²⁸ Oumar and Mohamed, "From Mashreq to Maghreb," op cit
- ²⁹ Ibid
- ³⁰ Open Source Center, "UN Security Council's Monthly Report on UN Office for West Africa," July 4, 2012
- ³¹ Open Source Center, "UN Security Council's Monthly Report on Mali Sep 2012," September 3, 2012
- ³² Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit
- ³³ Melly, "The World Today: The sad decline of Mali," op cit
- ³⁴ Kanani, "Gadhafi's Mercenaries Spread Guns and Fighting in Africa," op cit
- ³⁵ See: Ibid and Ronald Bruce St. John, "A Transatlantic Perspective On the Future Of Libya," The German Marshall Fund, May 2012, <u>http://www.gmfus.org/wp-</u> content/blogs.dir/1/files mf/1338296057StJohn Libya Apr12 web.pdf
- ³⁶ UPI, "Niger seeks help over Libya arms fallout," September 19 2011, <u>http://upi.com/top_news/special/2011/09/19/Niger-seeks-help-over-libya-arms-fallout/upi-79301316459816/</u>
- ³⁷ See: BBC News Africa, "Libya conflict: Niger border 'cannot be closed', September 7 2011, <u>www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-14825541</u>; and Sudan Tribune, "Niger concerned about smuggling of Libyan weapons in the region," December 28 2011, <u>www.sudantribune.com/niger-concerned-aboutsmuggling-of,41121</u>
- ³⁸ See IOM, "Migrants Caught in Crisis," op cit, p.27
- ³⁹ Sandstorm, op cit, pp.152-153
- ⁴⁰ Sandstorm, op cit, pp.152-153
- ⁴¹ Roudani, "Kadhafi regime collapse marks Maghreb turning point," op cit
- ⁴² Ahmed Charai and Joseph Braude, "Al Qaeda's Resurgence," The National Interest, September 14 2012, <u>http://nationalinterest.org/commentary/al-qaedas-resurgence-7463</u>
- ⁴³ Al Sharq al Awsat Online in Arabic via Open Source Center, "Libyan Interior Minister on Al-Sinusi's trial, Security Situation, Arms Smuggling," September 7 2012
- ⁴⁴ Sandstorm, op cit, pp.70-72
- ⁴⁵ Ibid
- ⁴⁶ Docherty, et al, "Explosive Situation: Qaddafi's Abandoned Weapons and the Threat to Libya's Civilians," Harvard Law School Human Rights Program, International Human Rights Clinic, August 2012, <u>http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/LibyaReport.pdf</u>
- ⁴⁷ See Maylie and Hinshaw, "Alarm Over Smuggles Libyan Arms," op cit and Roudani, "Kadhafi regime collapse marks Maghreb turning point," op cit
- ⁴⁸ Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit
- ⁴⁹ Mezran and Lamen, September 2012, p.4
- ⁵⁰ BBC News Africa, "Niger's army 'blocks Libya to Mali' convoy," November 9, 2011, <u>www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-middle-east-15654572</u>
- ⁵¹ Docherty, et al, "Explosive Situation," op cit
- ⁵² Ibid
- 53 Ibid
- ⁵⁴ Ibid
- 55 Ibid

- ⁵⁶ International Crisis Group, "Mali: Avoiding Escalation," July 18 2012, <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/~/media/Files/africa/west-africa/mali/189-mali-avoiding-escalation-english.pdf</u> p.9
- ⁵⁷ Maylie and Hinshaw, "Alarm Over Smuggles Libyan Arms," op cit
- ⁵⁸ See, for example: Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit and Al Masry Al Youm Online in English via Open Source Center, "Four Libyans arrested for weapons possession in Beheira," August 30 2012
- ⁵⁹ Docherty, et al, "Explosive Situation," op cit
- ⁶⁰ See Mezran and Lamen, September 2012, p.3; Paul Salem and Amanda Kadlec, Libya's Troubled Transition," The Carnegie Endowment for World Peace, June 2012, <u>http://carnegieendowment.org/2012/06/14/libya-s-troubled-transition/bzw4</u> pp.10-11;and BBC Monitoring via Open Source Center, "Counterterrorism Digest: 13-14 September 2012," September 14 2012
- ⁶¹ Kanani, "Gadhafi's Mercenaries Spread Guns and Fighting in Africa," op cit
- ⁶² See: AFP via Open Source Center, "AFP: AQIM Chief Buying Arms in Libya: Source," March 12 2012, www.opensource.gov/portal/server.pt/gateway/PTARGS 0 0 200 0 43/content/display/25736345 and Ennahar el-Djadid Online in Arabic via Open Source Center, "AQLIM buys weapons from Libyan rebels – Algerian paper reveals," September 11 2012
- ⁶³ See: Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit and Ennahar el-Djadid Online in Arabic via Open Source Center, "AQLIM buys weapons from Libyan rebels – Algerian paper reveals," op cit
- ⁶⁴ Kanani, "Gadhafi's Mercenaries Spread Guns and Fighting in Africa," op cit
- ⁶⁵ Monia Ghanmi, "Libyan arms pose new dangers for Maghreb," Magharebia, February 11, 2011, <u>http://magharebia.com/cocoon/awi/xhtml1/en_GB/features/awi/features/2011/11/02/feature-01</u>
- ⁶⁶ AFP via Al Arabiya English, "Al-Qaeda snatched missiles in Libya: Chad President," March 25 2011, <u>http://english.alarabiya.net/articles/2011/03/25/143013.html</u>
- ⁶⁷ Docherty, et al, "Explosive Situation," op cit
- ⁶⁸ Los Angeles Times World Now Blog, "Mideast violence shows 'Arab Spring' still a work in progress," September 15, 2012, <u>http://latimesblogs.latimes.com/world_now/2012/09/mideast-violenceshows-unfinished-revolutions-of-the-arab-spring.html</u>
- ⁶⁹ Mezran and Lamen, September 2012, p.2
- ⁷⁰ Al Jazeera in English via Open Source Center, "Al Jazeera Online: Libya Seixzes Tanks From Pro-Gaddafi Militia," August 24, 2012
- ⁷¹ Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit
- ⁷² RT, "Massive ex-Gaddafi weapons cache turns up in Algeria," February 21 2012, <u>http://rt.com/news/missiles-algeria-security-libya-801/</u>
- ⁷³ Xinhua via China Daily, "Algeria security services investigate arms smuggled from Libya: media," July 29 2011, <u>http://english.peopledaily.com.cn/90777/90855/7455472.html</u>
- ⁷⁴ Stewart, "Will Libya Again Become the Arsenal of Terrorism?" op cit
- ⁷⁵ Rachel Stohl, "Spotlight: Libya's Missing Weapons," The Stimson Center, February 2 2012, <u>http://www.stimson.org/spotlight/libyas-missing-weapons/</u>
- ⁷⁶ UN Security Council, "Spiking Arms Proliferation, Organized Crime, Terrorism Part of Fallout From Libyan Crisis Afflicting Sahel, Security Council Told," UN Department of Public Information, January 26 2012, <u>http://www.un.org/News/Press/docs/2012/sc10533.doc.htm</u>
- ⁷⁷ Jeune Afrique, "Le Tchadien Deby affirme qu'Aqmi s'est empire de missiles en Libye," May 3 2011, <u>http://www.jeuneafrique.com/actu/20110325T135147Z20110325T135145Z/le-tchadien-deby-affirmequ-aqmi-s-est-empare-de-missiles-en-libye.html</u>

- ⁷⁸ AP via Ynet news, "Egypt seizes weapons smuggled from Libya," June 29 2012, <u>http://www.ynetnews.com/articles/0,7340,L-4249141,00.html</u>
- ⁷⁹ Leila Fadel, "Smuggled Libyan weapons flood into Egypt," Washington Post, October 12, 2011, <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/libyan-weapons-flooded-egypts-black-weapons-market/2011/10/12/gIQA2YQufL_story.html</u>
- ⁸⁰ RT, "Libya to the world: Egypt makes its biggest arms bust ever," May 20 2012, <u>http://rt.com/news/libya-weapons-gaza-egypt-728/</u>
- ⁸¹ Erin Cunningham, "Weapons from Libya pour into Egypt," GlobalPost, March 5 2012, <u>http://www.globalpost.com/dispatches/globalpost-blogs/the-middle-east/libya-weapons-egypt-gaddafi-gaza</u>
- ⁸² AP via News24 (South Africa), "Libya heavy weapons seized by Egypt," May 10 2012, <u>http://www.news24.com/Africa/News/Libya-heavy-weapons-seized-by-Egypt-20120510</u>
- ⁸³ Stewart, "Will Libya Again Become the Arsenal of Terrorism?" op cit
- ⁸⁴ RT, "Libya to the world: Egypt makes its biggest arms bust ever," op cit
- ⁸⁵ Reuters, "UPDATE 1-Lebanon impounds ship carrying Libyan weapons," April 28 2012, <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/04/28/syria-lebanon-ship-idUSL6E8FS1CT20120428</u>
- ⁸⁶ RIA Novosti. "Lebanon Halts Ship 'Carrying Arms for Syria Rebels," April 29 2012, <u>http://en.rian.ru/world/20120429/173124812.html</u>
- ⁸⁷ Anissa Haddadi, "Libyan Weapons Flooding into Nigeria," International Business Times, November 30 2011, <u>http://www.ibtimes.co.uk/articles/258688/20111130/libyan-weapons-flooding-nigeria.htm</u>
- ⁸⁸ BBC News Africa, "Niger's army 'blocks Libya to Mali' convoy," op cit
- ⁸⁹ Maylie and Hinshaw, "Alarm Over Smuggles Libyan Arms," op cit
- ⁹⁰ Reuters Africa, "Niger arrests ex-rebel chief on suspected Qaeda link," March 21, 2012, <u>http://af.reuters.com/article/nigernews/idafl6e8el2vj20120321?sp=true</u>
- ⁹¹ United Nations Security Council, "Letter dated 17 January 2012 from the Secretary General addressed to the President of the Security Council," January 18 2012, http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/N1220863.pdf, p.10
- ⁹² North Africa United, "Weapons continue to flow out of Libya," June 13 2012, http://www.northafricaunited.com/Weapons-continue-to-flow-out-of-Libya a1698.html
- ⁹³ Mel Frykberg, "Libyan Weapons Arming Regional Conflicts," IPS, September 2 2012, <u>http://www.ipsnews.net/2012/09/libyan-weapons-arming-regional-conflicts/</u>
- ⁹⁴ This Day Online, "Looted Libyan weapons found in Nigeria," August 11 2012, <u>http://world.myjoyonline.com/pages/nigeria/201204/84709.php</u>
- ⁹⁵ Anissa Haddadi, "Libyan Weapons Flooding into Nigeria," op cit
- ⁹⁶ Lamine Chikhi, "EXCLUSIVE- Al Qaeda acquiring weapons in Libya," op cit
- ⁹⁷ The Economist, "Strife in the Sahel: A perfect desert storm," March 17 2012, <u>http://www.economist.com/node/21550324</u>
- ⁹⁸ See Mezran and Lamen, September 2012, p.4; and Maylie and Hinshaw, "Alarm Over Smuggled Libyan Arms," op cit
- ⁹⁹ Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit
- ¹⁰⁰ AP via Ynet news, "Egypt seizes weapons smuggled from Libya," op cit
- ¹⁰¹ Phoebe Greenwood, "Looted Libyan arms flooding into Gaza," August 23 2011, <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/africaandindianocean/libya/8718704/Looted-Libyan-arms-flooding-into-Gaza.html</u>
- ¹⁰² See Mezran and Lamen, September 2012, p.4; and Somaliland Times Online via Open Source Center, "Maritime Expert Says Somali Pirates Acquire Weapons From Libya," April 14 2012, www.opensource.gov/portal/server.pt/gateway/PTARGS 0 0 200 0 0 43/content/display/25941303

- ¹⁰³ St. John, "A Transatlantic Perspective On the Future Of Libya," op cit
- ¹⁰⁴ Sudan Tribune via Open Source Center, "Sudanese, Libyan Joint Forces Seize Arms, Ammunition in Al-Kufra Town," September 10 2012
- ¹⁰⁵ Bill Varner, "Libyan Arms Smuggles Into Sudan Threaten Renewed Violence in Darfur Region," Bloomberg News, October 6 2011, <u>http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2011-10-06/libyan-arms-smuggled-into-sudan-threaten-renewed-violence-in-darfur-region.html</u>
- ¹⁰⁶ See Monia Ghanmi, "Libyan arms pose new dangers for Maghreb," op cit and North Africa United, "Weapons continue to flow out of Libya," June 13 2012, <u>http://www.northafricaunited.com/Weapons-continue-to-flow-out-of-Libya a1698.html</u>
- ¹⁰⁷ Reuters, "Tunisia destroys three vehicles smuggling arms," June 21 2012, http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/06/21/us-tunisia-clash-idUSBRE85K0NT20120621
- ¹⁰⁸ Al-Tadamun News Agency (Tripoli) via Open Source Center in Arabic, "Official Urges West to Help Libya Stop Weapons Smuggling Across its Borders," April 29, 2012, www.opensource.gov/portal/server.pt/gateway/PTARGS 0 0 200 0 0 43/content/Display/25986338
- ¹⁰⁹ St. John, "A Transatlantic Perspective On the Future Of Libya," op cit
- ¹¹⁰ See: BBC News Africa, "Libya conflict: Niger border 'cannot be closed', op cit and IRIN News, "CHAD: The Libya fallout," June 29 2011, <u>www.irinnews.org/report/93098/chad-the-libya-fallout</u>
- ¹¹¹ Blanchard, "Libya: Transition and U.S. Policy," op cit
- ¹¹² Docherty, et al, "Explosive Situation," op cit
- ¹¹³ Stewart, "Will Libya Again Become the Arsenal of Terrorism?" op cit
- ¹¹⁴ Khalid Koser, "Briefing Paper: Responding to Migration from Complex Humanitarian Emergencies: Lessons Learned from Libya," Chatham House, November 2011, <u>http://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/1111bp_koser.pdf</u>
- ¹¹⁵ Al Jazeera via Open Source Center in English, "For Refugees in Libya, Hard to Stay or Go," March 12, 2012
- ¹¹⁶ Koser, "Migration, Displacement and the Arab Spring," op cit
- ¹¹⁷ IOM, "Migrants Caught in Crisis," pp. 5, 9
- ¹¹⁸ See Ibid and Khalid Koser, "Migration, Displacement and the Arab Spring: Prospects for Next Year," July 2 2012, Brookings Insitution, <u>http://www.brookings.edu/research/opinions/2012/07/01-displacement-arab-spring-koser</u>
- ¹¹⁹ See United Nations Office at Geneva, "Press Briefing by the UN Information Service in Geneva," <u>http://www.unog.ch/unog/website/news_media.nsf/(httpBriefingsLatest_en)/729C0A33CA68C50AC1</u> <u>257A3E004E8123?OpenDocument</u>, July 17 2012 and IOM, <u>op cit</u>, p. 11
- ¹²⁰ Koser, "Migration, Displacement and the Arab Spring," op cit
- ¹²¹ UN Office at Geneva, op cit
- ¹²² Koser, "Responding to Migration from Complex Humanitarian Emergencies," op cit
- ¹²³ Koser, "Migration, Displacement and the Arab Spring," op cit
- 124 Ibid
- ¹²⁵ Alan Boswell, "Niger calls for help to monitor its border with Libya," McClatchy Newspapers, September 16, 2011, <u>www.mcclatchydc.com/2011/09/16/v-print/124386/niger-calls-for-help-to-monitor.html</u>
- ¹²⁶ St. John, "A Transatlantic Perspective On the Future Of Libya," op cit
- ¹²⁷ See IOM, "Migrants Caught in Crisis," op cit, pp. 5, 9
- ¹²⁸ Amnesty International, "Libya: Rule of Law or Rule of Militias?" July 2012, <u>http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/MDE19/012/2012/en/f2d36090-5716-4ef1-81a7-f4b1ebd082fc/mde190122012en.pdf</u>

- ¹²⁹ Navanti, "Native Prospector Report: North Bridge: Snapshot of Conditions in Gharyan, Libya," August 9, 2012, accessed through Open Source Center
- 130 Ibid
- ¹³¹ See Ibid; Al Jazeera via Open Source Center in English, "For Refugees in Libya, Hard to Stay or Go," op cit; and Koser, "Migration, Displacement and the Arab Spring," op cit
- ¹³² See AFP via Open Source Center, "UN Report Says Over 435,000 Malians Displaced Due To Conflict, Food Insecurity," August 16 2012; and Antonio Guterres, "Why Mali Matters," New York Times, September 4 2012, <u>www.nytimes.com/2012/09/05/opinion/why-mali-matters.html?_r=2</u>
- ¹³³ AFP via ReliefWeb, "400 Malian army deserters arrive in Niger," May 10, 2012, <u>http://reliefweb.int/report/niger/400-malian-army-deserters-arrive-niger</u>
- ¹³⁴ See: IRIN News, "CHAD-NIGER: Lean season awaits migrants escaping Libya," September 20, 2011, <u>www.irinnews.org/report/93769/chad-niger-lean-season-awaits-migrants-escaping-libya</u>; IOM 2012 p.17; and Koser, "Migration, Displacement and the Arab Spring," op cit
- ¹³⁵ Al Jazeera via Open Source Center in English, "For Refugees in Libya, Hard to Stay or Go," op cit
- ¹³⁶ See IOM, "Migrants Caught in Crisis," op cit, p.17

- ¹³⁸ David McKenzie, "Chad's migrant workers pay price for Libya conflict," CNN, April 18, 2012, <u>http://edition.cnn.com/2012/04/18/business/chad-libya-economy-oil/index.html</u>
- ¹³⁹ IRIN News, "CHAD: The Libya fallout," June 29 2011, <u>www.irinnews.org/report/93098/chad-the-libya-fallout</u>
- 140 Ibid
- ¹⁴¹ AFP via Open Source Center, "Report Says Mali, Libya Conflicts Fuel West Africa's Food Insecurity," June 18 2012
- ¹⁴² William J. Garvelink and Farha Tahir, "The Dadaab Refugee Complex: A Powder Keg and It's Giving Off Sparks," CSIS Critical Questions, March 1 2012, <u>http://csis.org/publication/dadaab-refugeecomplex-powder-keg-and-its-giving-sparks</u>

¹³⁷ Ibid

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE					Form Approved		
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions				iewing instructions se	OMB No. 0704-0188		
data needed, and completing a this burden to Department of D 4302. Respondents should be	and reviewing this collection of refense, Washington Headqua aware that notwithstanding ar	information. Send comments re rters Services, Directorate for Int	garding this burden estimate or a formation Operations and Reports on shall be subject to any penalty	ny other aspect of this s (0704-0188), 1215 J	collection of information, including suggestions for reducing efferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202- with a collection of information if it does not display a currently		
1. REPORT DATE (DD		2. REPORT TYPE		3	. DATES COVERED (From - To)		
September 2012		IAD Draft Final			7-2012 - 03-2013		
4. TITLE AND SUBTIT	LE			-	a. CONTRACT NUMBER		
					012-12062700-003		
The Impact of the Arab Spring on Africa: Regional Effects of the Libyan Revolution			the Libyan Revolutio	-	b. GRANT NUMBER — — —		
				5	c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER — — —		
6. AUTHOR(S)				5	d. PROJECT NUMBER		
				-			
Brittany T. Gregerson			-	5e. TASK NUMBER EE-55-3604			
				5	f. WORK UNIT NUMBER		
7. PERFORMING ORG	ANIZATION NAME(S	AND ADDRESS(ES)		8	PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT		
				0	NUMBER		
Institute for Defense	Analyses			Π	DA Document D-4825		
4850 Mark Center D	Drive			L	og: H 13-000369		
Alexandria, Virginia	22311-1882						
9. SPONSORING / MO	NITORING AGENCY	NAME(S) AND ADDRE	SS(FS)	1	0. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)		
Institute for Defense			50(20)				
4850 Mark Center D	•						
Alexandria, Virginia				1	1. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT		
Thexalitina, Virginia	22311 1002				NUMBER(S)		
12. DISTRIBUTION / A		MENT					
	-	ion is unlimited (18 J	ulv 2013).				
13. SUPPLEMENTAR	(NOTES						
	I NOTES						
14. ABSTRACT							
	e regional fallout fro	m the 2011 Libyan re	evolution and the dem	ise of Muamm	ar Qadhafi, with a focus on Mali, Chad		
and Niger. Three lor	ng-standing trends a	e identified as most a	ffected by the Libyan	revolution: the	e empowerment of militia groups,		
trafficking of armam	ents and ordnance,	and spread of transna	tional refugee and mig	grant flows.			
15. SUBJECT TERMS Libya, Arab Spring, revolution, Sahel, Sub-Saharan Africa, Middle East and North Africa, Mali, Niger, Chad, Tuaregs, Islamic							
extremists, Muammar Qadhafi, refugees, migration, remittances, Al Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM)							
16. SECURITY CLASS	SIFICATION OF:		17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT	18. NUMBER OF PAGES	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON Richard Porterfield		
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE					
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unlimited	25	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area code)		
Shelassing	Sherassinea	Chickaboniou			703-578-2812		
			•	1	Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98)		

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18